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A CoMMItMent to 
A SHAReD vISIon
the port of Dover is europe’s busiest ferry port, a vital 
international gateway for the movement of people and 
trade. It is also an award-winning cruise port, the second 
busiest in the uK and hosts some of the world’s most 
prestigious cruise lines. other successful businesses include  
a cargo terminal and a top award-winning marina.

In 2014, DoveR HARBouR BoARD MADe GReAt StRIDeS on  

ItS CoMMItMent to Be tHe BeSt poRt In tHe WoRlD foR 

tHe BenefIt of ItS CuStoMeRS AnD CoMMunItY.
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CHAIRMAn’S 
StAteMent

2014 HAS Been A HIGHlY SuCCeSSful YeAR – AnD one tHAt 
tHe entIRe teAM At tHe poRt, ouR CuStoMeRS AnD tHe 
CoMMunItY We SeRve CAn Be pRouD of.
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2014 has been a highly successful year 
– and one that the entire team at the 
port, our customers and the community 
we serve can be proud of. 

the port has handled record traffic 
growth and the accompanying 
challenges it brings, while successfully 
bringing forward the structural pillars 
needed to support the transformation 
of the organisation. I am delighted 
with the efforts that many of our 
partners are undertaking to support  
us in mitigating some of the local 
issues caused by rapid traffic growth.

Dover Harbour Board was given clear 
direction about the required business 
and community transition from the then 
parliamentary under Secretary of State 

for transport and we have delivered 
that change programme in full.

In partnership with the Department for 
transport, we have brought forward 
legislation to deliver our joint pledge 
of greater community representation 
on the Board. the package of changes 
includes establishing a community 
fund to support local projects and the 
necessary amendments to the port’s 
borrowing powers to enable us to 
deliver further regeneration and 
business growth with our customers, 
primarily through the Dover Western 
Docks Revival (DWDR) project.

As 2014 drew to a close, the port 
hosted a spectacular public event to 
unveil the iconic sculpture, the Dove  

of peace, by Anthony Heywood. three 
hundred people gathered to view a full 
size white spitfire made from a special 
type of paper developed at the former 
Buckland paper Mill, Dover. this 
commemorative occasion was a visible 
demonstration of how far the port and 
community have come this year. I look 
forward to similar events in 2015.

In September, the Minister of State  
for transport, Rt Hon John Hayes Mp, 
confirmed that I would serve a further 
term of a minimum of one year. A sign 
of confidence from the Government, 
the port remains committed to delivering 
on its transformation agenda through 
further commercial development, a strong 
customer focus, positive local community 
relations and enabling regeneration.

The financial powers which are required for the commercial development 
of the Port will allow DHB to enhance its contribution to regeneration… 
This gives the community full participation and consultation in strategic 
decision-making going forward.

stephen hammond Mp and former parliamentary under Secretary of State for transport, April 2014

A YEAR OF MAJOR ACHIEVEMENT
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community involvement

to ensure that there is an enduring  
and meaningful consultative 
relationship with our stakeholders,  
the port has established two 
important organisations – the port  
and Community forum and the port 
users Group. In 2014, these groups 
took shape, appointing independent 
chairmen for a two-year term and, in 
partnership with the port, embarked 
on an exciting work programme to 
help shape the development of the 
Western Docks.

Dover broke new ground by beginning 
the appointment process for the  
uK’s first community non-executive 
directors to the board of a trust port. 
the applications for the non-executive 
directorships were particularly strong. 
the independent representatives of 
the local community – the leader of 
Dover District Council, the Deputy 
Mayor of Dover, the local Mp, and the 
chairmen of the port and Community 
forum, port users Group and the 
South east local enterprise partnership 
– made a recommendation that 
Samantha parker and neil Wiggins 
would bring an effective community 
voice to the Board.

to cement community representation 
on the Board in perpetuity, in 
consultation with the local community 
and the Department for transport, the 
port has brought forward legislation 
to enshrine these changes, which is 
subject to Government approval.

Alongside these important corporate 
governance changes and to ensure 
there is a continuing legacy, the port 
gifted £250,000 to launch the port of 
Dover Community fund, with a further 
payment of £100,000 to be made in 
2015. I am grateful to the Kent 
Community foundation for agreeing 
to manage the fund. I encourage 
Dovorians to bring forward grant 
applications for projects that promote 
skills, jobs and the community in the 
months and years ahead.

commercial Development 

this year saw the port announce 
phase 1 of the Dover Western Docks 
Revival (DWDR) project in preparation 
to support growing cargo traffic and 
establish a new port-centric logistics 
offering. In order to ensure the progress 
of this important project and to make 
it a reality, the port required an 
overhaul of its borrowing powers.

In partnership with the Department 
for transport, the port brought 
forward modernisation proposals that 
were accepted by the Marine 
Management organisation when they 
granted the port’s Harbour Revision 
order in four months – in record

time, with no substantive objections 
– in october 2014.

this technical change provides the 
financial ability to deliver more in 
different ways – helping to unlock 
£120m of private sector investment and 
600 new jobs, while safeguarding a 
further 140 posts, which will transform 
the waterfront to be the catalyst for 
the town’s wider regeneration.

throughout the year, I have been 
heartened by the attendance at our 
regular public workshops, which have 
helped shape our DWDR plans that 
we now want to turn from a shared 
vision into reality.

It is a real pleasure to be here at the 
ground-breaking of the Western Docks 
Revival. It’s great to see the commitment  
of the Port to new investment and the 
creation of hundreds of new local jobs. 
There’s a real sense of change and 
partnership with the town. New 
investment, new community directors  
and a new fund for Dover too.

charlie elphicke Mp for Dover and Deal, August 2014
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regeneration

phase 1 of DWDR represents an initial 
and major part of the biggest single 
investment that the Board has ever 
undertaken. tenders have been received 
from construction companies to support 
one of the most exciting development 
opportunities in the region.

throughout 2014, the port has promoted 
the opportunities open to the local 
community – from apprenticeships to 
civil engineering supply contracts – and 
in 2015 we will carry on that process to 
ensure that this significant investment 
delivers tangible local benefits. 

In August, I was pleased to get some 
of the initial work under way with our 
Chief executive, tim Waggott, and local 
Mp, Charlie elphicke. the demolition 
of the old Seacat berth is now complete 
and paves the way for a new cargo 
terminal and associated waterfront 
developments over the next few years.

prospects

2015 will be another significant year 
for the port as we look to build upon 
the organisation’s structural and 
business transformation in order to 
capitalise on the projected growth  
in traffic through the port, from now 
to 2030.

Working with existing customers and 
the local community, the port will seek 
to strike a balance between revenue 
generation, cash flow and investment 
in the existing asset base to promote 
the port as a first class international 
gateway.

As the year progresses, l look forward 
to seeing the benefit of the Community 
fund investments bear fruit and the 
work with our continental partners  
to further enhance this first-class 
transport corridor.

Integral to the redevelopment of the 
port and the town is the use of our 
historic assets to bring the port and 

community together – celebrating the 
success of the past with the promise of 
a strong economic future. throughout 
the year ahead, this will continue to 
play a central role in our work.

Seeking out new investment relationships 
to support the construction in the 
Western Docks will be vital to the 
success of the project. the Board are 
confident that the scheme will secure 
project finance later in the year and 
Dovorians will begin to see the visible 
benefits take shape.

I look forward to further progress  
of the collaborative success that has 
been the hallmark of this year.

george Jenkins oBe
Chairman
24 March 2015
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StRAteGIC 
RepoRt
the port of Dover: working hard to keep traffic, 
the town of Dover and the uK economy moving.

CHIEF ExECuTIVE’S STATEMENT
the last year has been a time of local, 
national and european success thanks 
to all the efforts of our committed 
staff, strong customer relationships and 
continued capital investment that have 
created a platform for record trade.

Dover recorded its busiest ever year 
with 2.42m freight vehicles handled  
in 2014. A phenomenal growth story 
of 9.7 per cent compared with the 
previous year, it is 2.5 per cent higher 
than the previous record of 2.36m set 
in 2007 before the global financial crash.

the port is a core international 
gateway of trade and this year we 
commissioned a piece of economic 
analysis to quantify the value of our 
activity both locally and to uK plc. 
Independent consultants, oxera, 
calculated that the 2013 traffic figure 
of 2.2m freight vehicles using the 
port, carried goods worth an 
estimated £89bn. Reinforcing Dover’s 
reputation as europe’s busiest ferry 
port, with 98 per cent of its freight 
traffic by weight either originating in 

or destined for the european union 
(eu), based on 2014 traffic figures 
this is estimated at £100bn.

Central to this year has been an 
effort to rebuild relations with our 
three ferry operators – the lifeblood 
of the port. to that end, we have 
agreed to split plans for port dues 
and capital investment into digestible 
three-year blocks. Currently, we are 
in the midst of the first three-year 
period. In the spring of 2015, the 
port will have begun the next stage 
of negotiations with our customers to 
deliver a sustainable and competitive 
tariff structure for 2017-19.

Similar to other international gateways 
like Heathrow and Gatwick, we need 
to future proof our existing facilities 
and plan for future demand through 
continual capital investment.

the port is now well advanced with  
an £85m investment programme in  
key infrastructure projects, including 
the renewal and enhancement of

three berths and traffic management 
improvement works. this includes the 
creation of a new holding area with 
capacity for 220 freight vehicles (4km 
in length), which will provide crucial 
improvements to the resilience of core 
port infrastructure and added flexibility 
to the South-east Kent road network 
to cope with the increasing traffic as 
the British economy continues to grow.

throughout 2014 we continued to 
work cooperatively with our local 
partners in order to secure important 
road investment from the Government 
to unlock the port’s economic 
potential. A £5m local Growth fund 
bid was confirmed in January 2015  
to enhance junctions on the A20 in 
Dover, which will, we hope, be the 
first of a series of road upgrades to 
the M20/A20 and M2/A2 corridors  
in the years ahead.

Consider these key facts as 
evidence of the national and 
international significance of 
the port of Dover:

  £100bn of trade 
handled per annum

  One vessel movement  
every 10 minutes

  2.4m freight vehicles  
per annum 

  2.5m tourist vehicles  
per annum

  13m passengers  
per annum

  Over 120 cruise liner  
calls per annum 

If DoveR WeRe An AIRpoRt It WoulD Be tHe fIftH 
lARGeSt In tHe uK BY pASSenGeR nuMBeRS
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2.4m
FREIgHT 
VEHIClES 

TRAdE  
HANdlEd  

£100bn

The Government 
announcement is a  
clear vote of confidence  
in how the Port of  
Dover is investing in  
the future success of the 
nation and, according  
to Transport Secretary,  
Rt Hon Patrick 
McLoughlin MP, how  
we are helping to  
unlock Britain’s  
economic potential.
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With cross-Channel freight traffic expected to rise by 40 per cent by 2030 
(freight traffic has risen by 20 per cent in the last two years), the importance  
of strengthening the route has become the focus of a renewed collaboration  
in 2014 between the port and our colleagues in Calais. 

Seeking to protect the resilience of this internationally important trade link,  
the BRIDGe (Building the Resilience of International and Dependent Gateways  
in europe) project was set up to ensure that the two ports are part of european 
efforts to create a fully integrated freight corridor combining road, rail and 
maritime transport and linking the uK with northern france, Benelux and  
north-east Spain.

Both ports are acknowledged at european level as core ports of the new ten-t 
network 2014-2020 – a recognition of their strategic importance. this is the  
only core network connection between the uK and continental europe and  
the route also constitutes the maritime part of the north Sea-Mediterranean 
corridor of the new eu ten-t programme.

In January 2015, the eu recognised the merits of the joint case we presented 
and agreed to fund €14m for key short-term capacity improvements, the first 
phase of the BRIDGe project. the ports have continued to work together in 
order to achieve long-term enhancements and support.

Alongside improving the port estate asset base, securing domestic and european 
funding for infrastructure improvements, the port continues to work with the 
local community and all our political stakeholders to regenerate the waterfront, 
marina, Cambridge terrace and the Western Docks.

Beyond the anticipated 600 new logistics jobs that will be created by the Dover 
Western Docks Revival (DWDR) project, the port is seeking to lead by example  
– delivering a significant and lasting role for the community as part of the  
strategic leadership of the port, while actively promoting the large employment, 
construction and supply chain opportunities through a series of community-led 
and business-led workshops.

to support me in driving this agenda forward, the port has welcomed new 
members of staff in a variety of disciplines. We are growing our DWDR team 
and will be taking on further new staff to strengthen the port’s customer and 
community relations, and delivery of the extensive port and town regeneration 
plans, in 2015 and the years ahead.

It is one of the great pleasures of my role that I lead such an exciting and varied 
heritage, cultural and sporting events calendar – from supporting local sports 
clubs like Dover Rugby Club, establishing the inaugural Dover Race festival, and 
overseeing another successful port of Dover Community Regatta to welcoming 
the Archbishop of Canterbury to the port.

2014 has been a year of positive community, business and regeneration momentum.

13m
pASSENgERS

2.5m
TOuRIST VEHIClES

+120
CRuISE lINER  
CAllS

1
VESSEl MOVEMENT 
EVERY 10 MINuTES

tHe BeSt poRt  
In tHe WoRlD  
foR tHe BenefIt  
of ouR 
CuStoMeRS AnD 
CoMMunItY
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OppORTuNITIES
elevate and promote the national 
profile of the port through:

 Delivering great service

 Resilient operational excellence

  ‘Best in class’ – national and 
international expertise

  economic importance – significant 
international trade corridor

  Delivering port development – 
fulfilling joint community and 
corporate objectives

  Acting as a catalyst for 
regeneration

  Creating a destination and being 
port of choice – from the Dover 
Western Docks Revival to heritage 
and cultural events

 Delivering employment growth

  upskilling the local workforce  
and future generations to capture 
the benefits of the port’s capital 
investment programme

  Delivering business diversification 
by promoting individual business 
streams

RISkS
  uncertainty around the uK’s 
membership of the european 
union and its impact on business 
confidence and trade

  Another global financial downturn 
and its impact on business 
confidence and trade

  Customer delay caused by the 
reinstatement of exit checks and 
significant trunk road works – 
reducing the attractiveness of the 
port as an investment opportunity

  large-scale economic migration – 
the ongoing situation in the port  
of Calais and the town and the 
intensification of political interest  
in the symptoms of the issue

  Accident or act of terror that leads 
to a major incident

  one-off operational issues at 
eurotunnel and the associated 
traffic issues on the local and 
national road network

  fluctuations in pre-tax profits  
and the potential impact on the 
Community fund

  unable to secure proposed 
legislative changes to secure non-
executive Community Directors

MITIgATION
  prudent financial and capital 
investment management

  Strong partnership working and 
training to mitigate the risks of a 
major incident should it occur

  Multi-agency working to limit the 
impact of increased traffic on local 
and national road infrastructure, 
the community and customers

  Clear and consistent messages 
delivered through proactive 
engagement with all relevant  
local, national and european 
stakeholders

  Advocacy in partnership with the 
local community and customers 
and through the port’s business 
and trade representative bodies

  promotion of job opportunities, 
early identification of talent and 
succession planning

STRATEgY ANd RISkS 
FORwARd STRATEgY 2015-17
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the Board’s financial instruments 
comprise borrowings, cash and liquid 
resources, and various items such as 
trade debtors and trade creditors that 
arise directly from its operations. 

In order to augment returns from 
current liquid resources and diversify 
risk, the Board appointed Royal 
london Asset Management to invest a 
significant proportion of surplus funds 
in a AAA rated Cash plus fund which 
contains a portfolio of securities and 
money market instruments. the risk 
profile includes certificates of deposits 
with ‘A rated’ approved Banks and 
Building Societies, short dated (under 
5 years) uK Government (including 
index linked) and Supranational (AAA 
rated) Bonds, floating Rate notes and 
Covered Bonds. the Board does not 
invest its temporary cash surpluses  
in uK or overseas equities, foreign  

currencies or the futures market, nor  
in high return/high risk deposits. 

the Board also allows, subject to certain 
limits, surplus funds to be placed 
directly with uK ‘A’ rated banks where 
higher returns are achievable with a 
similar level of risk. 

Risks arising from the Board’s financial 
instruments are interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk. the Board 
reviews and agrees policies for managing 
each of these risks as summarised below.

the Board is not generally exposed  
to movements in exchange rates as it 
has agreed payment terms in sterling 
with its main customers. If the Board 
plans to enter into significant overseas 
contracts, such as the acquisition  
of vessels or plant manufactured in 
another country, the purchasing 
transactions will be arranged in sterling.

interest rate risk

the Board finances its operations with 
a mixture of retained profits, term 
debt and leasing. the Board finances 
certain items of plant and equipment 
by means of finance and operating 
leases and a marine mortgage.

liquiDity risk

the Board’s policy is to ensure that its 
main access to funding is maintained 
by negotiating facilities well ahead  
of their expected date of utilisation.

Current cash reserves are held for 
future development of our infrastructure 
and are invested in a Cash plus fund 
containing a portfolio of securities and 
money market instruments of limited 
risk through a specialist investment 
manager or directly with financial 
institutions on terms that give the Board 
access to its own funds at short notice.



STR
A

TEG
IC

 R
EPO

R
T

13

BranD

the port is committed to becoming 
the best port in the world. this is the 
overarching objective of everything 
the port does and is planning to do. 
the port is establishing a global 
reputation as a valuable international 
maritime consultancy partner that 
gives the port’s staff an incredible 
platform for career development  
and opportunities. through this 
commitment to excellence, the port 
aims to deliver to all its stakeholders 
whilst growing a strong and vibrant 
business.

inFrastructure

the port is committed to maintaining 
and improving its operational and 
heritage assets whilst ensuring port 
operations do not impact adversely 
on the surrounding environment.

people

the port is committed to the welfare 
and development of its employees.  
It has retained the Investors in people 
Bronze accreditation and is working 
towards attaining the Silver award. 
An apprenticeship programme and 
individual staff training plans ensure 
we retain and develop our highly 
skilled workforce.

BuSINESS MOdEl

We operate an efficient and dynamic business 
generating strong cash flows to reinvest into 
our people and infrastructure so as to deliver 
a world class port for all our stakeholders now 
and in the future.
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2014 
£m

2013 
£m

% 
Change

Turnover 60.6 59.1 2.5

Profit before tax before major project expense* 16.9 12.9 31.0

Profit before tax 3.7 10.0 -63.0

*See page 15

turnover

turnover increased by 2.5 per cent to £60.6m. this was largely due to a £2.5m increase in ferry revenue and reflects the 
outstanding traffic figures for this business linked to the commendable performance and customer service of staff and 
stakeholders alike. 

the financial performance and overall stability of the organisation continues to be driven by the throughput of passengers, 
cars, coaches and freight together with the movement of ferries, cruise, cargo and other vessels. this is further supported  
by a property portfolio comprising both commercial and residential units.

freight traffic reached record volumes of 2.42m units. this 9.7 per cent growth exceeded the short sea market growth by  
1.5 per cent with market share holding above historic levels. this achievement was recorded despite ferry capacity dropping  
by 723 entries between Dover, Calais and Dunkerque. the tourist markets also grew with passenger and coach numbers 
reaching levels not seen since 2008. 

the income for both the current and previous year is summarised as follows: 

 
2014

Ferry 
£m

Cruise 
£m

Cargo 
£m

Property 
£m

Marina/other 
£m

Total 
£m

Dues  46.7  2.4 0.4  –  0.9 50.4

Other 0.4 1.4 1.9  5.6 0.9 10.2

Total 47.1 3.8 2.3  5.6 1.8 60.6

 

 
2013

Ferry 
£m

Cruise 
£m

Cargo 
£m

Property 
£m

Marina/other 
£m

Total 
£m

Dues  44.2  3.0 0.5  –  0.9 48.6

Other 0.4 1.9 1.9  5.3 1.0 10.5

Total 44.6 4.9 2.4  5.3 1.9 59.1

 

REVIEw OF pERFORMANCE
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expenDiture

operating expenditure on major 
projects rose to £13.2m (2013: £2.9m). 
the replacement of the roof on Cruise 
terminal 1 neared completion with a 
further £7.2m being spent in the year. 
other work on our legacy heritage 
assets included the repainting and 
repair of the exterior of Harbour 
House. Site clearance ahead of the 
Dover Western Docks Revival project 
included the demolition of the old 
catamaran berth and ‘A’ shed. the 
refurbishment of two key operational 
assets – berths 2 and 7 – also 
incurred substantial costs.

Costs relating to stakeholder 
engagement and community initiatives 
were also responsible for the increase. 
the £350,000 of community dividend, 
as the initial dowry of £250,000 and  
a further payment of £100,000 to  
be made in 2015, is included within 
these costs.

eu grant income from the BRIDGe 
project of £1.4m was released to the 
profit and loss account thereby 
supplementing operating profit.

operating profit subsequently fell by 
£6.8m to £1.9m (2013: £8.7m) largely 
as a direct result of the increase in  
the expenditure noted above.

net funds fell slightly over the year  
to £51.8m (2013: £55.2m). the 
reduced operating performance of 
£12.2m (2013: £19.9m) was largely 
compensated by reduced capital 
expenditure and taxation.

pensions

the assumptions used to arrive at the 
fRS17 figure in the financial statements 
are largely based upon the September 
2012 triennial valuation of the Dover 
Harbour Board pension and life 
Assurance Scheme (1973) that have 
been updated for market rates as at 
31 December 2014.

on this basis, the deficit has increased 
before deferred tax to £21.5m  
(2013: £14.9m). Gilt yields have fallen, 
resulting in a lower discount rate and 
as such liabilities have increased over 
the period. A lower inflation rate 
assumption in conjunction with a 
higher rate of return on assets has 
partially offset this increase. these 
calculations will remain particularly 
sensitive to changes in the 
assumptions made and the Board 
continues to monitor the position of 
the pension fund at regular intervals, 
and is cognisant that alternative 
assumptions particularly in respect  
of lower discount rates or improved 
mortality rates could significantly 
increase liabilities beyond the level 
recognised in the financial statements. 
the next actuarial valuation will take 
place in 2015.

As mentioned in last year’s report,  
the defined benefit scheme was 
closed to new entrants in 2014.  
A new defined contribution scheme 
(the port of Dover DC pension 
Scheme) was established during  
the year for all new employees. this 
scheme also meets the requirements 
for auto enrolment.

trustees of the Dover Harbour Board 
pension and life Assurance Scheme 
(1973) have continued to receive 
regular updates on matters 
influencing the employer covenant. 

interest receivaBle

Interest received on cash balances 
and investments reduced to £0.4m 
(2013: £0.7m). the Board continues 
to invest cash directly with well 
regarded financial institutions whose 
available rates continue to reflect the 
very low bank base rate. 

the Board also invests in a Cash plus 
fund administered by Royal london 
Asset Management. the AAA rated 
fund has investments in cash,  
covered bonds, conventional gilts, 
supranational bonds and certificates 
of deposit.

taxation

the effective rate of corporation  
tax fell to 36 per cent (2013: 37 per 
cent). these high tax rates are as  
a direct result of disallowable 
expenditure in relation to our 
industrial buildings which no longer 
attract capital allowances since their 
elimination in 2011. Accordingly 
effective tax rates for the Board are 
likely to remain in excess of the 
prevailing rate of corporation tax  
in future years.

the total tax charge for the year of 
£0.7m is explained more fully in note 
6 of the accounts.
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Delivering major port development that protects long term port 
capacity but delivers jobs and opportunities now whilst creating  
a catalyst for major regeneration, will be a significant boost to  
the region and shows real commitment to Dover.

cllr paul Watkins leader of Dover District Council, february 2014

dOVER wESTERN dOCkS REVIVAl TAkES SHApE

the development of the Western 
Docks took a number of significant 
steps forward this year. the port of 
Dover announced its Dover Western 
Docks Revival (DWDR) plans in february, 
aimed at reviving the Western Docks 
through the development of a new 
cargo terminal and port-centric 
distribution facility, creating 600 jobs 
and safeguarding another 140 positions, 
protecting long term capacity and 
enabling the transformation of the 
waterfront with the potential creation 
of a new marina.

community Workshops

A number of well-attended DWDR 
public workshops took place 
throughout the year to help shape 
the direction of the project. In events 
held in May and June, members of 
the port and Community forum 

gathered to consider and present  
the feedback received. Workshop 
participants’ input ranged across a 
number of topics, from regeneration, 
port/town partnership working, logistics 
and the environment, and waterfront 
development to community directors.

preparing the WorkForce 
to maximise local 
employment opportunities

the port and east Kent College 
signed an important agreement, which 
will strengthen the local economy 
and deliver exciting career prospects 
for young people in Dover.

the Memorandum of understanding, 
signed by myself and Graham Razey, 
principal of east Kent College, focuses 
on how to develop the skills of local 
people to support the ongoing 

development and future success of 
the port. the intention is that once 
the skills issues have been identified, 
the two organisations will develop joint 
training programmes, so that training 
can be put in place for local people to 
benefit from the significant opportunity 
at the DWDR re-development.

A new cargo terminal and port centric 
distribution facility will produce quality 
jobs in:

 Warehousing/packing 

 transport planning 

 Stevedoring

 Haulage/Delivery 

 Management 

 training

 Component Assembly 

 Construction 

 engineering
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590,000m3
dREdgEd SIlT, Mud ANd CHAlk – 
ENOugH TO FIll BuCkINgHAM 
pAlACE 1.5 TIMES

1,600,000m3

REClAIMEd SANd –  
ENOugH TO FIll 142 MIlES  
OF dOuBlE-dECkER BuSES

SCAlE OF pROJECT

3,570
STEEl SHEET pIlES –
180kM IN lENgTH 
(CIRCuMFERENCE OF THE M25)

NEw CARgO  
TERMINAl

2
BERTHS

23
HECTARES OF lANd  
CREATEd – EquIVAlENT  
TO ST. JAMES’S pARk, lONdON
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port groWth supporteD By the local Business community

In September, following the launch of the vision at the port and Community 
forum, the Board issued a prior Information notice in the official Journal of the 
european union, stating that the port of Dover is planning phase 1 of a £120m 
redevelopment project. 

this is part of the port’s early engagement with interested contractors and 
suppliers, with a view to obtaining further market feedback to assist with finalising 
the business plan. thus far, interest in the scheme has been very strong.

to further promote and encourage local business participation in the DWDR 
project, the port has engaged business through local chambers of commerce.

commercial progress

the port management continues to maintain a dialogue with potential customer 
partners who are crucial to the success of the DWDR project and will use the 
facilities in the future. 

the team participated in fruit logistica 2014, the most comprehensive trade 
exhibition for the international fresh produce sector, where DWDR was welcomed 
by the current and future users of the cargo facilities. 

Commercial negotiations are ongoing. to date, non-disclosure agreements are  
in place with potential customers. Discussions with funding partners continue in 
what is seen as an excellent investment opportunity, which fits with the wider 
east Kent regeneration agenda.

site Works

this year has seen visible signs of progress with the demolition and removal of 
the old Seacat berth, a gantry and storage facility. further ground works are 
planned for 2015.

DWDr phases unDertaken

The development must be 
seen as part of a wider 
strategic vision to establish an 
alternative transport corridor 
to the Midlands and the North 
through a new lower Thames 
crossing while supporting new 
town centre investment and 
community development.

peter Jones, cBe
Chairman of the South east  
local enterprise partnership,  
february 2014

CONSulTATION

BERTH REMOVAlS

FEEd STudIES

SHEd dEMOlITION

MASTERplAN

HOARdINgS

FuNdINg
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following the signing of the 
Memorandum of understanding  
in 2011, the port, together with  
its international partners, Mott 
MacDonald, Buchan Group and price 
Waterhouse Coopers, supported by uK 
trade & Investment, has been successful 
in securing a significant contract to 
guide the major development of three 
ports managed by taiwan International 
ports Corporation ltd.  

Dover’s world-class expertise in port 
management and port development 
beat off stiff competition. the contract 
is focused on carrying out master 
planning activities for the ports of 
Keelung, Kaohsiung and Anping in 
order to promote the ports’ domestic 
and international passenger transport 
and tourism services, including the 
construction and modernisation of 
passenger terminal facilities.

the port and our partners will 
conduct research and analysis on  
the location and characteristics of the 
ports in order to carry out a detailed 
investigation of possible domestic 
and foreign development projects. 
they will then produce the final master 
plan presenting the most appropriate 
developments, their location and size, 
configuration and the types of 
industry suited to each port.

INTERNATIONAl REpuTATION 
FOR pORT ExpERTISE
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following the port’s successful hosting of the ClIA uK & Ireland luxury expo 
and a fruitful presence at Cruise Shipping Miami to promote Dover, the port  
was pleased to welcome a number of inaugural calls in 2014.

Included in the line up were five calls by Dover newcomer portuscale Cruises, 
introducing the elegance of its two ships, Mv funchal and Mv Azores, to the 
first class facilities, globally recognised local attractions and excellent transport 
links to the Capital that are on offer from the uK’s second busiest cruise port. 
this reputation will be boosted further when the restoration of Cruise terminal 1  
is completed in 2015.

other inaugural visits included AIDA Cruises’ AIDAbella, Sea Cloud Cruises’  
Sea Cloud II, Silversea Cruises’ Silver Cloud, Seabourn’s Seabourn Quest and 
SeaDream Yacht Club’s Seadream I.

Dover regulars – including fred olsen Cruise lines, Saga Cruises and Aida – 
retained a significant presence, a sign of the successful partnerships that the 
port has established with its cruise line customers.  

In 2015, the port looks forward to welcoming Disney Cruise line back to Dover  
as its uK home port.

case stuDy: shoWcasing luxury cruise lines

the last weekend in August saw Dover host ClIA uK & Ireland’s first expo 
focused on premium and luxury cruising.

More than 100 delegates were able to visit three ships over two days, with  
each vessel offering a different style of cruising and experience.

the expo included business sessions, networking opportunities with cruise  
lines and businesses, a dinner and visits to Crystal Symphony, Holland America 
line’s Ryndam and SeaDream Yacht Club’s SeaDream 1.

A TOp CRuISE dESTINATION

The Port of Dover and  
Visit Kent also form a great 
destination partnership, 
promoting the very best  
of Dover and Kent to an 
international audience.

andy harmer, Cruise lines 
International Association  
uK & Ireland, March 2014

1,120
SHORT  
OR lONg-STAY  
pARkINg SpACES

2
CRuISE 
TERMINAlS

36
VESSElS CAllEd

186,004
pASSENgERS

122
CRuISE 
CAllS

CONSECuTIVE
YEARS AwARdEd 

pARk MARk  
FOR SAFE, SECuRE  
CAR pARkINg

11
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the cargo business continued to perform well in 2014, with a record 159 ship calls and 
305,604 tonnes of cargo. Grain calls grew by 25 per cent, with exported tonnage 
standing at 10,906 tonnes. to meet demand and prepare for future growth, our 
partner, George Hammond plC, made a significant investment in a new cold store and 
handling equipment.

the port looks forward to working with our cargo customers as we develop operations 
in the Western Docks to enable further strong growth.

CARgO: SIgNIFICANT INVESTMENT 
TO MEET FuTuRE dEMANd

305,604
tonnes oF  
cargo hanDleD 159ship 

calls
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Real progress was made with our 
partner, Motis, with the signing of 
heads of terms for additional space 
for driver facilities in the freight 
Clearance Centre.  

Motis, the freight services specialist 
that took over the freight Services 
Agency within the port at the end  
of 2012, is investing £1m in the 
development of the site.

Work has now begun to provide 
hauliers and drivers with state of the 
art facilities at Motis freight Clearance 

and truckstop facility within the port.  
over the coming months, new toilets, 
showers, launderette, catering and 
tv lounge facilities will be added  
to ensure that drivers experience 
industry-leading levels of service  
24 hours a day, every day. Cargo 
handling facilities are also being 
upgraded to include ambient, frozen 
and chilled storage/transhipment.  
A hand truckwash is already in 
progress and will be opening soon. 
the entire site will have free Wi-fi  
and discounted international calls  
will be available.

Safety and security is being further 
enhanced with 1km of new fencing, 
upgraded automatic number plate 
recognition and additional CCtv 
equipment.

located within the port of Dover, this 
320-space dedicated truck facility is 
ideally placed for international drivers 
requiring a safe haven for their legal 
rest period. Additional services include 
HGv levy, Dart Charge, Customs 
Clearance, tIR Sealing, poD dispatch 
and digitacho download.

FREIgHT: AddITIONAl SpACE SECuREd 
ANd IMpROVEd HgV FACIlITIES

Going forward we aim to be the benchmark for truck parking 
and have many innovative plans to further add value which we 
will be implementing over the coming months.

rob hardy Motis fSA General Manager
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Regeneration, significant investment 
and a change of use has characterised 
the dynamics of the port’s property 
portfolio throughout 2014.

the port continues to use its property 
assets as the catalyst for the town’s wider 
regeneration. this year, great strides 
were made in creating a regeneration 
vision for the waterfront, with the 
creation of a masterplan. Work will 
continue on this document in 2015, 
supported by a strong market interest 
in the opportunities presented within 
the Cambridge terrace area. Successful 
engagement with a developer has 
secured non-disclosure agreements to 
work up a deliverable plan. this is an 
important stream of work and forms 

a central part of the wider Dover 
Western Docks Revival project.

progress has been made on increasing 
revenue from advertisements, with 
the signing of a long-term agreement 
for poster sites across the port.

Intensive marketing of the port’s 
commercial space has secured five new 
tenancy agreements with start-up 
companies for office accommodation. 

the port continues to invest in its 
residential property portfolio with  
the refurbishment of three vacant 
flats to attract new tenants and the 
sale of land at the port Zone, 
releasing a capital sum of £500,000.

Continuing to invest in and use  
port assets for the promotion of 
community causes, the historic clock 
tower building saw the Dover smARt 
project promoting ‘My Gallery’ for 
local artists to exhibit art and run 
some small workshops with the local 
community.

the port was pleased to agree a 
long-term lease with the Royal 
Cinque ports Yacht Club to support 
its Sport england application for 
funding to support further growth. 
this agreement builds upon the 
financial support the port gave in 
2013 for the Club’s initial funding bid. 

pROpERTY: CONTINuEd INVESTMENT  
ANd REgENERATION
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dOVER MARINA SCOOpS  
pRESTIgIOuS ACCOlAdE case stuDy:

Dover marina  
open Day

the Dover Marina open Day 
returned this May to provide both 
budding mariners and those 
already enjoying sailing the 
chance to try something new.

the free event brought together  
the local sailing community and 
industry experts for a day of 
family fun filled with water 
displays, exhibitions, local food 
stalls, children’s entertainment 
and a second-hand boat sale.

the open day forms part of the 
port’s participation in the Royal 
Yachting Association’s Active 
Marina programme, which offers 
additional training, cruising and 
social opportunities throughout 
the year. Being run in association 
with the RCpYC as well as  
the British Marine federation’s  
on the Water campaign, practical 
workshops took place during  
the day.

The return of this event  
and the growing 
partnership with the Port 
of Dover demonstrates the 
great work going on to 
promote Dover as a 
destination – somewhere 
to savour a rich maritime 
heritage and somewhere  
to experience and enjoy 
the delights of the sea.

Bernard sealy 
Commodore, Royal Cinque 
ports Yacht Club

Dover Marina has once again been accredited with a 5 Gold Anchors Award  
by the Yacht Harbour Association. the award is one of the highest accolades, 
recognising quality of service and moorings.

Dover Marina, one of the best known marinas on the south coast is convenient 
for cross-Channel sailing. Situated at the closest point to europe and just 32km 
from france, it is within easy sailing distance of the french marinas of Boulogne, 
Calais, Gravelines and Dunkirk, and the Belgian and Dutch coasts.

Dover Marina and in partnership with the Royal Yachting Association, Royal Cinque 
ports Yacht Club (RCpYC) and others, is continually striving for improvement – 
whether attracting new people to the sport or playing an active role in shaping 
the proposed new facilities as part of the Dover Western Docks Revival project.

the Gold Anchor award scheme operates in 26 countries. 110 marinas have 
Gold Anchor status.

5 golD anchors aWarD 
ACCREdITEd TO dOVER  
MARINA BY THE YACHT  
HARBOuR ASSOCIATION
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OuTlOOk

2015 will be about bedding in the 
vital modernisation of the port’s 
corporate and community structures, 
while driving forward and beginning 
to deliver the aspirational plans for 
the Dover Western Docks Revival 
(DWDR) project. 

Integral to the delivery of DWDR  
is our pledge to maximise local 
employment opportunities through a 
strong awareness campaign. We are 
working towards preparing a future 
workforce through the Maritime Skills 
partnership with east Kent College and 
promoting career pathways through 
the port’s local apprenticeship and 
university bursary schemes.

uncertainty still exists for Myferrylink 
and its staff after the Competition 
Appeal tribunal’s judgement to 
uphold the Competition and Market 
Authority’s ruling to bar eurotunnel 
from operating ferry services from 

Dover. the port’s focus is on ensuring 
that freight and tourist customers 
continue to be well-served in the future.

With two impressive dedicated 
terminals, Dover remains the port of 
choice for more than 21 individual 
cruise lines and the Garden of england 
remains a great tool for marketing 
the facilities to luxury cruise liners.   
I also look forward to welcoming 
Disney Cruise line back to the port.

our staff are incredibly talented and I 
firmly believe that the port will continue 
to have great success in marketing 
Dover’s employee experience.

the Dover Straits is not the end of the 
British Isles, it is at the heart of 
north-West european trade. to that 
end, the port will maintain its 
national and european promotion of 
improved connectivity and resilience, 
seeking to build a series of positive 

public-private partnerships to 
advocate for further trunk road and 
port estate investment to alleviate 
congestion, with associated carbon 
dioxide and noise benefits.

With freight volumes expected to 
increase in 2015, we will continue to 
invest in our asset base in support of 
our customers, community and the 
nation. I am positive about the port 
of Dover growing as the international 
gateway of choice for the South-east 
of england and a source of pride for 
the local community.

tim Waggott
Chief executive
24 March 2015
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CoRpoRAte SoCIAl  
ReSponSIBIlItY
underpinning the port’s transformation agenda

dOVER’S 2014 STAkEHOldER BENEFIT 
IN NuMBERS

£51.1m
TOTAl  
COMMuNITY 
BENEFIT

£10.3m
HERITAgE ASSETS ANd 
ENVIRONMENTAl  
COMMITMENTS ExpENdITuRE

£350,000
pORT OF dOVER 
COMMuNITY 
FuNd

CoRpoRAte SoCIAl 
ReSponSIBIlItY 
(CSR) IS At tHe 
CoRe of tHe poRt 
of DoveR’S vISIon  
AnD CoMMItMent  
to Be tHe BeSt  
poRt In tHe 
WoRlD foR tHe 
BenefIt of ouR 
CuStoMeRS AnD 
CoMMunItY.
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22,000 JoBs 
SuppORTEd BY pORT  
(dIRECT, INdIRECT, INduCEd)

1,371
TRAININg 
dAYS

293
STAFF 
dIRECTlY 
EMplOYEd

10 apprentices 
(4 OF THE INITIAl  
2013 IN-TAkE SECuREd  
Full-TIME ROlES)

INVESTMENT IN STAFF 
TRAININg ANd lOCAl 
RECRuITMENT

STAFF TIME INVESTEd IN kEY 
COMMuNITY pROJECTS

  port and Community forum

  port users Group

  Dover Western Docks Revival 
workshops and presentations

  Annual Consultative Meeting

  port of Dover Community Regatta

  Shakespeare Beach Clean

  Marina open Day

  Dove of peace event

  Bronze Age Boat meetings

  port of Dover Race festival

  outdoor Gym project

  My Gallery support

  Christmas tree installation

  Heritage trail

  Young enterprise (business advisers, 
competition and advisory meetings)

  Big local meetings

  Youth engagement Scheme 
(including work with local schools, 
east Kent College, university of 
Kent, university of Greenwich, 
Canterbury Christ Church university, 
university of Cardiff and others) 

  port tours and many other initiatives

50 hours
ROAd SAFETY EVENTS

4,535 hours
NEIgHBOuRHOOd pOlICINg BY 
THE pORT OF dOVER pOlICE
Attending to tombstoning, free running, local community 
engagement, assisting with port of Dover Community Regatta, 
liaison with porchlight, national trust and prince’s trust

1,600 hours COMMuNITY ANd 
ENVIRONMENTAl pROJECTS ANd EVENTS 
INCludINg:
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enDuring partnerships anD community participation

  Developing good relationships with customers, community, staff,  
stakeholders and Government

  Independently chaired port and Community forum launched

  Independently chaired port users Group launched

  Regular public workshops established on future plans bringing everyone 
together with a shared vision

  enhanced powers achieved with community support to deliver more

community support anD activities Bringing port  
anD community together

  Community fund created with £250,000 already gifted and a further 
payment of £100,000 to be made in 2015

  poRtrait initiative continued and enhanced to link the port with the 
community through the Arts

  Making port Heritage Work initiative enhanced to bring the port’s heritage 
assets to life in supporting operations and wider community initiatives

  port of Dover Community Regatta including Dover port Dash charity race – 
flagship annual seafront event

  Marina open Day opening up sailing to local people

  Inaugural port Contractor Safety forum 

  police Road Safety initiative

  Inaugural Winter Driving and Road Safety Day – delivered in partnership  
with the Kent County Council Road Safety team

WItH A SolID  
CSR founDAtIon,  
2014 HAS Seen  
MAnY exCItInG 
CoMMunItY 
pARtneRSHIp  
InItIAtIveS  
BeGIn AnD 
envIRonMentAl 
leADeRSHIp  
MIleStoneS  
ACHIeveD.
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investing in local people

  1,371 days of staff training

  ongoing commitment to 
Apprenticeship Scheme providing 
opportunity for local young  
people – always supporting  
10 apprentices annually; in 2014, 
four were offered jobs

  Bursary Scheme supporting 
talented local people through 
university

  Major sponsor of Young enterprise 
nurturing local enterprise and 
business acumen – 180 hours 
invested in 2014 across Business 
Adviser, Dover District Board  
and Kent Board meetings and 
competition

  partnership with east Kent College 
launched to match local skills 
training with future port 
opportunities

  Working with uKSA work 
placements and the prince’s trust

  Renewed sponsorship of  
grassroots rugby to nurture local 
young talent in Dover

maJor investment in WorlD 
class inFrastructure

  Dover Western Docks Revival 
launched

 –  Developing a shared vision  
of the future

  –  Creating 600 new jobs, 
safeguarding 140 roles

  – Major waterfront regeneration

  £120m already committed – our 
biggest ever single investment

  £85m ferry terminal upgrade  
well advanced

  –  traffic Management 
Improvement project being 
delivered to improve port 
operations with capacity  
to handle an additional 4km  
of freight traffic

  –  ferry berths being upgraded or 
replaced with latest safety and 
operational standards

  £10m investment in restoring 
historic assets, including the roof 
of Cruise terminal 1 (former Dover 
Marine Railway Station) and 
fairbairn Hand Cranked Crane

sustainaBility anD 
environmental 
improvements (annual)

  Improved air quality recognised 
with Dover District Council revoking 
the Air Quality Management Area 
at the eastern Docks – sulphur 
dioxide level objective continuously 
met following introduction of low 
sulphur fuel in 2006

  100 per cent landfill avoidance

  Recycled waste increased by  
4.4 per cent

  Carbon dioxide footprint reduced 
by 9.88 per cent, leading to  
1,198 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
emissions saved

  Water usage reduced by 1.7 per cent

  port generated waste has reduced 
by 0.24 per cent

  Active promotion and sponsorship 
of environmental campaigns and 
initiatives, including Green Week 
and the annual Shakespeare Beach 
survey and beach clean

  Dover’s beach is in the Good Beach 
Guide for its excellent water quality
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CoRpoRAte  
GoveRnAnCe

CHAIRMAN’S OVERVIEw

My second year as Chairman has been 
a year of significant progress in terms 
of governance and constitutional 
matters. As a statutory corporation, 
the Board can only do what is within 
its statutory powers, which historically 
have been restricted. In June, we 
submitted an application for a Harbour 
Revision order (HRo) to increase the 
Board’s powers for the development 
of land in the vicinity of the harbour, 
to enter into joint ventures, provide 
further powers for borrowing money, 
power to establish and maintain 
reserve funds and to make donations 
to charities. the HRo was approved 
and the Dover Harbour Revision  
order 2014 came into force in 
november 2014. 

As Chairman, I aim to ensure that our 
governance processes are not a box-
ticking exercise and that Board 
meetings allow a full discussion of  
all issues facing the Board, with each 
member having the opportunity to 
contribute his or her views and 
challenge management as appropriate. 

this enables the Board to reach quality 
decisions on the strategic issues facing 
the organisation and a collective 
commitment by all Board members to 
the future strategy and development 
of the port.

throughout the year, the Board 
agenda was structured to allow for 
regular update and debate on our 
key deliverables, including the 
proposed constitutional changes 
which were implemented by the 
Dover Harbour Revision order 2014 
and the development of an application 
for a second HRo to revise the Board’s 
structure. A significant amount of 
Board time was also devoted to debate 
on our plans for Dover Western 
Docks Revival.

our non-executives bring a broad 
range of experience and skills to the 
Board, the details of which are 
summarised on pages 62 and 63. 

the Board and management regularly 
undertake visits to operational areas 

to observe the key features of our port 
activities close up, in particular those 
relating to the safety of the operation. 
these visits are valued by both the 
individual members and the 
employees on the ground. We are 
revising this programme for 2015 to 
allow greater insight to other areas  
of the business which both reinforce 
our safety culture and allow further 
oversight of activities beyond pure 
safety. We aspire to the highest 
standards of accountability and 
corporate governance. the Board 
regularly monitors the performance 
of its committees and itself and a 
thorough evaluation was carried out 
in January 2015. 

george Jenkins oBe
Chairman
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lEAdERSHIp ANd EFFECTIVENESS

this section looks at the role of our Board members, their performance and oversight. 

the BoarD’s commitment

the Board is committed to best 
practice in corporate governance  
and has a number of governance 
practices and structures in place  
to reflect its commitment to the 
principles of openness, transparency 
and accountability and to ensure  
that the business is run in a 
responsible manner. the governance 
arrangements for trust ports are 
identified in the government’s trust 
port review document “Modernising 
trust ports (second edition)” (Mtp2) 
revised guidance issued in August 
2009.  the principles contained in 
Mtp2 complement those of the uK 
Corporate Governance Code, which  
is primarily intended for companies 
listed on the uK stock exchange.  
the Board also pays due regard to 
the corporate governance principles 
set out in the Institute of Directors’  
‘Corporate Governance Guidance  
and principles for unlisted Companies 
in the uK’.

the Board believes that the level of 
compliance with accepted corporate 
governance standards remains high.

In addition, the Board is subject to 
national legislation, its own acts of 
parliament and a variety of statutory 
instruments relating to the operation 
of ports.

unlike a listed company, the Board does 
not have shareholders. nevertheless, 
the port of Dover is run for the benefit 
of its stakeholders and the Board 
encourages regular dialogue with its 
different stakeholder groups in the 
furtherance of its objectives. In 
addition to an annual consultative 
meeting at which it communicates its 
key business results to stakeholders 
including customers, local government, 
community groups, the general public 
and staff, it has established three 
consultative bodies which it uses  
as forums to communicate with 
stakeholder groups. 

these bodies have Chairmen who are 
independent of the port:

A port users Group, which comprises 
a representative cross section of the 
users of the port.

A ferry port user Group, with  
a sub-committee focusing on 
technical and operational matters; 
this group comprises the port  
and its ferry operators and the 
operators chair the meetings on  
a rotating basis.

A port and Community forum, which 
provides a focal point through which 
there can be engagement and debate 
between the port and the local 
community regarding matters of 
interest relating to the operation and 
development of the port. It enables the 
port management to update 
interested parties on options for port 
development, supporting local 
regeneration, and what actions the 
port is taking to increase community 
engagement and to further 
understand the needs  
of its stakeholders.  
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the role anD structure  
oF the BoarD

the principal difference between 
Dover Harbour Board and companies 
incorporated under companies 
legislation relates to the structure  
of the Board and the appointment  
of Board members. the Board’s 
constitution provides for a non-
executive Chairman, five non-
executive and two executive 
members. the non-executive 
appointments are normally fixed for 
periods of three years. the Chairman 
and four non-executive members are 
appointed by the Secretary of State 
for transport after a competitive 
selection process. the remaining 
members are appointed by the Board.

the Board meets regularly (at least six 
times during the year) and with a 
strong non-executive element brings 
an independent judgement and 
oversight on financial, strategic and 
organisational issues. no individual or 
group of individuals dominate the 
Board’s decision-making. Additional 
Board meetings are arranged for 
exceptional items and to debate the 
strategic future of the port. Reporting 
to the Board is the Chief executive 
who together with his senior 
colleagues has responsibility for day-
to-day management. Biographical 
details of all Board members can be 
found on pages 62 and 63.

the Board has a schedule of matters 
specifically reserved to it for decision 
and has also defined those delegated 
to Board committees and management. 
this provides a framework for the 
Board to oversee the control of the 
direction and affairs of the 
organisation and is reviewed annually 
by the Board. In order for efficient 
and effective board meetings to take 
place, it is essential that members of 
the Board are fully informed of all 
material information pertinent to the 
meeting and as such the Chairman 
has ensured that the Board members 

are provided with appropriate and 
timely information and that their 
enquiries have been properly met. 
Board papers are sent out a week in 
advance of the relevant meeting to 
allow the members to make informed 
decisions on the corporate and 
business issues under consideration. 
the Board is also kept informed of 
developments within the business 
through regular presentations by 
management.

the Board considers that the  
non-executive members bring 
independence to the Board and  
the Deputy Chairman has been 
nominated to act as senior 
independent director. the roles  
of Chairman and Chief executive  
have not been combined which 
ensures that no one individual has 
unfettered powers of decision.   

the non-executive members 
contributed external expertise in 
areas of importance to the Board 
such as shipping and ferry operations, 
general finance and corporate 
finance, transport and sustainable 
development and regeneration.  

the Board is satisfied that all 
members devote sufficient time  
and attention as is necessary to 
perform their duties.

the Chairman and the Company 
Secretary ensure that each new Board 
member receives an appropriate and 
tailored induction, which includes an 
information pack and briefings on the 
activities of the Board and visits to 
operational areas. throughout the 
year the non-executive members 
have continued the practice of visits 
to operational areas of the port.

All Board members have access to the 
advice and services of the Company 
Secretary of the Board and may take 
independent professional advice at 
the Board’s expense. 

there are three standing committees 
of the Board, being the Audit 
Committee, nomination Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee. the 
terms of reference for these committees 
can be found on the Board’s website 
at www.doverport.co.uk

the Dover Harbour Board pension  
and life Assurance Scheme (1973)  
is separately administered by an 
independent Board of pension 
trustees comprising four Board-
appointed trustees, four member-
nominated trustees and an employer’s 
observer. the trustees meet quarterly 
under the independent chairmanship 
of Mr Holmes, previously a member  
of the Board.
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auDit committee

the Board’s Audit Committee comprises 
three non-executive board members 
and is chaired by Jeff Hume. It has 
written terms of reference, meets at 
least three times a year and keeps 
under review the effectiveness of the 
Board’s control systems. It reviews 
the scope, results, cost effectiveness, 
independence and objectivity of  
the external auditors, considers their 
appointment and remuneration.  
the Chief executive and Director of 
finance normally attend the meetings.

the Committee reviews the annual 
report and financial statements. It also 
reviews the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the internal audit function, its 
resources and reports. the Board is 
satisfied that at least one member  
of the Audit Committee has recent 
and relevant financial experience.

the Board has outsourced its internal 
audit function and the role of  
internal auditor is undertaken by 
Grant thornton uK llp.

nomination committee

the Board’s nomination Committee 
comprises three non-executive board 
members plus the Chief executive 
and is chaired by the Chairman of  
the Board, George Jenkins. It has 
written terms of reference and  
meets at least once a year. It makes 
recommendations to the Board 
regarding the appointment of 
members by the Board and provides 
support and advice to the Board 
Chairman. from time to time it reviews 
the Board’s composition (its mix of 
skills, experiences and characteristics) 
and considers succession planning.  

remuneration committee

the Board’s Remuneration Committee 
comprises three non-executive board 
members and the Chief executive 
normally attends the meetings. the 
Committee is chaired by frank Martin. 
It has written terms of reference which 
include deciding executive directors’ 
remuneration and considering the 
policy for board remuneration, which 
is set by the full Board. the Committee 
also keeps under review and decides 
on awards under the bonus incentive 
scheme for staff and a separate scheme 
for the Chief executive. Decision-
making is structured so that, while the 
Committee as a whole debates the 
structure and policy of remuneration 
matters, no member of the Committee 
is in a position to propose his or her 
remuneration and the final decision 
whether to approve the Committee’s 
recommendations is reserved to the 
full Board. It meets at least once a year.   
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perFormance evaluation

led by the Chairman, a formal evaluation is undertaken of the Board and its committees annually and is used constructively 
as a mechanism to improve Board effectiveness. the most recent evaluation of Board performance took place in January 2015.  
A detailed questionnaire on the performance of the Board as a whole was completed by all board members, directors and the 
Company Secretary with the results being collated by the Company Secretary. the questions gave rise to both quantitative and 
qualitative responses which, although anonymous, enabled the Board to identify themes for discussion.

the table below details the number of formal Board and Committee Meetings attended by each Board member. During the 
year ended 31 December 2014 there were six scheduled Board meetings, three Audit Committee meetings, four Remuneration 
Committee meetings and four nomination Committee meetings.

 
Member

possible 
to attend

 
Attended

possible 
to attend

 
Attended

possible 
to attend

 
Attended

possible 
to attend

 
Attended

g Jenkins 6 6 – – 4 4 4 4

C green 6 6 3 3 – – – –

J Hume 6 6 – – – – 4 4

R J lane 6 6 – – 4 4 – –

F Martin 6 6 3 3 4 4 1 1

E Østergaard 6 5 – – – – 4 3

T waggott 6 6 *3 3 *4 4 4 4

S pottage 4 4 *2 2 – – – –

 

*Where invited by the Audit and Remuneration Committees to be in attendance at a meeting
Shaun pottage appointed as a board member 20 May 2014
frank Martin appointed to nomination Committee 30 September 2014

remuneration 

the fees and emoluments for the executive directors and non-executive members are set out in note 5 (page 49) to the 
annual accounts. 

Board  
Meetings

Audit  
Committee Meetings

Remuneration  
Committee Meetings

Nomination  
Committee Meetings
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accountaBility anD auDit

the Board members are responsible 
for preparing the Annual Report  
and Accounts in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Board 
members to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. 
under that law, the Board members 
have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with  
united Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting practice.  

under company law, the Board 
members must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and  
fair view of the state of affairs of  
the Board and the profit or loss of 
the Board for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, 
Board members are required to:  

  Select suitable accounting policies 
and then apply them consistently

  Make judgements and accounting  
estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent 

  State whether applicable uK 
Accounting Standards have been 
followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements, and  

  prepare the financial statements 
on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Board will continue in business

the Board members are responsible 
for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show 
and explain Dover Harbour Board’s 
transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of Dover Harbour 
Board and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply 
with section 42 of the Harbours Act 
1964 (as amended) which requires 
that the financial statements be 
properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006. they are 
also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the organisation and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

the financial statements are published 
on the company’s website in accordance 
with legislation in the united Kingdom 
governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements, 
which may vary from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. the maintenance 
and integrity of the company’s 
website is the responsibility of the 
Board members. the Board members’ 
responsibility also extends to the 
ongoing integrity of the financial 
statements contained therein.

going concern

After making enquiries and reviewing 
cash flows, the members of the Board 
have a reasonable expectation that 
the Board has adequate resources to 
continue operations for the foreseeable 
future. for this reason, they continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts.

BOARd RESpONSIBIlITIES
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internal control

the Board members acknowledge 
that they are responsible for the 
Board’s systems of internal control 
and for reviewing their effectiveness. 
these systems are designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the  
risk of failure to achieve the Board’s 
objectives. It should be recognised 
that such systems can only provide 
reasonable not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

there is an ongoing formal process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing 
risks faced by the Board – the risk 
management process and systems  
of internal control.

Risk assessment and evaluation take 
place as integral parts of the annual 
corporate planning cycle. each 
business sector is required to identify 
and document risks which might 
influence the attainment of business 
objectives. this information is then 
reviewed by senior management and 
assessed according to impact and 
probability. Risks are segregated into 
those which are routinely reported at 
regular intervals to Board members and 
those less significant risks which are 
routinely monitored by management.  

During the year, responsibility for  
the on-going management and 
development of the Board’s risk 
management processes was carried out 
by the Strategy and Risk Management 
Division. the risk management 
processes continued to be refined 
and developed during this year. there 
are risk registers which identify the 
risks faced by the organisation and 
detail the controls that manage the 
risks and where necessary, the action 
plans to mitigate the risk exposure. 
the Board reviews the strategic risks 
at every meeting and receives an 
annual report which provides details 
of progress and highlights. 

During the year, the internal auditors 
monitor risk compliance and provide 
monitoring reports directly to the  
Audit Committee. During the year, 
the Audit Committee:

  Reviews the internal and external 
audit plans

  Considers reports from internal 
audit on the system of internal 
control and significant control 
weaknesses

  Discusses with management 
actions and progress in dealing 
with identified problem areas

the external auDitor’s 
responsiBilities

the external auditors are required  
to form an independent opinion on 
the financial statements presented by  
the Board members based on their 
audit and to report their opinion to 
the Secretary of State for transport 
and to the Board members.

their report states whether, in their 
opinion, the financial statements 
prepared by the Board give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs  
of the Board at 31 December 2014, 
and that the results for the year then 
ended comply with Section 42 of the 
Harbours Act 1964 (as amended by 
later Statutory Instruments and 
Companies Act legislation).

memBers’ responsiBilities

All of the current Board and executive 
Management have taken steps to 
make themselves aware of any 
information needed by the auditors 
for the purpose of their audit and to 
establish that the auditors are aware 
of that information. the Board and 
executive Management are not aware 
of any relevant audit information of 
which the auditors are unaware.
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ForWarD looking 
statements

the Annual Report contains certain 
forward looking statements with respect 
to the financial condition, results of 
operations and businesses of the port 
of Dover. these statements involve risk 
and uncertainty because they relate to 
events and depend upon circumstances 
that will occur in the future. there are 
a number of factors that could cause 
actual results or developments to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied 
by these forward-looking statements. 
nothing in this Annual Report should 
be construed as a profit forecast.

research anD Development

the Board has maintained its 
commitment to explore new and 
more suitable ways to handle large 
numbers of passengers and vehicles 
with greater efficiency within the 
physical constraints of the port.

Donations

no donations were made for political 
parties.

employee relations

the Board remains committed to 
maintaining and improving employee 
involvement in the organisation’s 
performance and in providing timely 
and appropriate information to 
employees.

the aims of the Board and its  
views on future developments are 
contained in its vision and mission 
statements. the Board’s ability to 
sustain a competitive edge over  
the short and long term will depend 

in large part on the continuous 
development of customer service  
by all employees. for this reason,  
the Board is committed to providing  
a business environment which values 
continuous learning and development 
opportunities. this development is  
a responsibility shared by the Board 
and all employees. As part of this 
responsibility, the Board has been 
accredited with the Investors in 
people standard (IIp) since 1999. 
following the achievement of the  
IIp Bronze standard, the Board has 
worked towards the Silver standard 
at the next assessment in 2015.

the port maintains a variety of 
communication channels with its 
workforce including Joint Consultative 
Committees. In addition, an employer 
forum is being developed where 
management will meet with employees’ 
representatives and other interested 
staff to brief them on issues of interest 
in each area and to deal with any 
issues or questions the representatives 
have. A Chief executive’s newsletter is 
published electronically and issued to 
all employees and regular staff seminars 
are held to which all staff are invited. 
the Chief executive also meets all new 
staff when they join the organisation. 
the corporate intranet, which is updated 
daily, is accessible to all employees, 
carries a wide variety of information 
including daily port traffic figures, 
internal vacancies, minutes of safety 
meetings, and copies of press releases; 
it also facilitates a staff forum where 
staff can post questions and receive 
answers. All employees are encouraged 
to participate in a suggestion scheme 
(‘port thoughts’) which is designed  
to promote new ideas and greater 
understanding within the Board’s 
businesses.

DisaBleD employees

Applications for employment from 
disabled persons are fully considered 
bearing in mind the respective 
capabilities of the applicant 
concerned. the Board provides an 
occupational health service which 
assists with monitoring the health  
of employees and ensuring that 
employees who experience disability 
or long-term illness receive the 
appropriate support to enable them 
to stay in or return to work. In the 
event of members of staff becoming 
disabled, every effort is made to 
ensure that reasonable adjustments 
are made and appropriate re-training 
is arranged. It is the Board’s policy 
that training, career development  
and promotion of disabled persons 
should, as far as possible, be identical 
to those of other employees.

health anD saFety

In pursuance of health, safety  
and environment policies, the  
Board employs experienced staff  
to implement and maintain  
high standards in the interests  
of port users.

AddITIONAl INFORMATION
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the environment

the port of Dover is committed  
to ensuring the best practicable 
protection of the environment  
under its jurisdiction commensurate 
with its mission and the aim of 
sustainable development.

the Board fully endorses the 
principles contained in the  
european Sea ports organisation’s 
environmental Code of practice  
and has pledged to work towards  
a cleaner environment through the 
implementation of effective 
management strategies. the Board 
works with the British ports 
Association in european environmental 
initiatives for the ports industry and is 
an active contributor to the eu eCo-
Information project on environmental 
management of ports. the Board  
has an environmental Management 
System and its environmental policy 
has been adopted following the 
guidance of the eu eCo-Information 
project and ISo 14001. 

sharon higenbottam
Company Secretary
24 March 2015
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InDepenDent 
AuDItoR’S RepoRt

We have audited the financial 
statements of Dover Harbour Board 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 
which comprise of the profit and loss 
account, statement of total recognised 
gains and losses, the balance sheet, 
the cash flow statement and the 
related notes. the financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and 
united Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(united Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting practice).

this report is made solely to the 
Board’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of part  
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and 
Harbours Act 1964, as amended by 

the transport Act 1981. our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Board’s members 
those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and  
for no other purpose. to the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Board and the 
Board’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

respective responsiBilities 
oF memBers anD auDitors

As explained more fully in the 
statement of members’ responsibilities, 
the members are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view. our responsibility is 
to audit and express an opinion on 
the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (uK and Ireland). 
those standards require us to comply 
with the financial Reporting Council’s 
(fRC’s) ethical Standards for Auditors. 

scope oF the auDit oF the 
Financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit 
of financial statements is provided on 
the fRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditscopeukprivate
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opinion on Financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements: 

   give a true and fair view of the state of the Board’s affairs as at 31 December 
2014 and of its profit for the year then ended;

   have been properly prepared in accordance with united Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting practice; and

   have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006 and Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the transport Act 1981.

opinion on other matters prescriBeD By the companies 
act 2006 anD harBours act 1964, as amenDeD By the 
transport act 1981

In our opinion the information given in the strategic report and the members’ 
report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements. 

matters on Which We are requireD to report By exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the 
Companies Act 2006  and Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the transport Act 
1981 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

   adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

   the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

   we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

John everingham  
(senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of BDo llp, statutory auditor
2 City place, Beehive Ring Road
Gatwick, West Sussex  RH6 0pA
Date 31 March 2015

BDo llp is a limited liability partnership registered in england and Wales  
(with registered number oC305127).
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pROFIT & lOSS ACCOuNT
Year ended 31 december 2014

2014 2013

Notes £’000 £’000

Turnover 1  60,637 59,141

Cost of sales 2   (49,773) (38,884)

Gross Profit 10,864 20,257

Administrative expenses (10,349) (11,596)

Other operating income 1,359 –

Operating Profit 1,874 8,661

profit/(loss) on sale of assets 356 (21)

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 2,230 8,640

Net finance income 4 303 560

Net pension finance income 4 1,212 781

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3 3,745 9,981

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6 (696) (4,857)

Profit for the financial year 14 3,049 5,124

The results for the year arise wholly from the continuing operations of the Board.

STATEMENT OF TOTAl RECOgNISEd gAINS 
ANd lOSSES
Year ended 31 december 2014

2014 2013

Notes £’000 £’000

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 3,049 5,124

unrealised gain on investments 120 48

Actuarial loss recognised on pension scheme 20 (9,183) (4,130)

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial loss 1,837 826

Total recognised (losses) and gains since last annual report (4,177) 1,868

The notes on pages 45 to 60 form part of the financial statements.
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43BAlANCE SHEET
As at 31 december 2014

2014 2013

Notes £’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 7 145,037 141,047

Current assets

Stocks 787 801

debtors – due within one year 9 12,671 9,255

debtors – due after one year 9 4,103 –

Investments 10 41,415 35,991

Cash at bank and in hand 12,250 22,129

71,226 68,176

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 11 (14,264) (11,484)

Net current assets 56,962 56,692

Total assets less current liabilities 201,999 197,739

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 12 (6,158) (1,819)

Provision for liabilities 13 (1,121) (2,296)

Net assets excluding pension liability 194,720 193,624

pension liability 20 (17,211) (11,938)

Net assets including pension liability 177,509 181,686

Capital and reserves

profit and loss account 14 177,509 181,686

The notes on pages 45 to 60 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 42 to 60 were approved by the Board on 24 March 2015 and were signed  
on its behalf by:

g.R. Jenkins T.p. waggott
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CASH FlOw STATEMENT
Year ended 31 december 2014

2014 2013

Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities 15 12,230 19,889

Return on investments and servicing of finance 16 303 560

Taxation (2,242) (2,743)

Capital expenditure and financial investment 16 (13,614) (16,956)

Management of liquid resources 17 (5,304) (21,357)

Financing 16 (1,252) (1,109)

Decrease in cash in the period (9,879) (21,716)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds

decrease in cash in the period 17 (9,879) (21,716)

Cash flow from changes in debt and lease financing 17 1,088 1,050

Cash flow from changes in liquid resources 17 5,304 21,357

Change in net funds resulting from cash flows 17 (3,487) 691

Movement in other liquid resources 17 120 48

Movement in net funds in the period (3,367) 739

Net funds at the start of the period 17 55,213 54,474

Net funds at the end of the period 17 51,846 55,213
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Basis oF accounting
these accounts are prepared  
on an historical cost basis and  
in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards.

consoliDateD accounts
In accordance with the provisions of 
section 405 (2) of the Companies Act 
2006 the Board has not prepared group 
consolidated accounts as the 
subsidiary undertakings of the Board 
are not material when taken together.

tangiBle FixeD assets
fixed assets are stated at cost less 
depreciation. nothing is included in 
respect of assets granted under the 
Charter of James I and subsequent 
Acts of parliament or assets reverting 
to the Board at the end of leasehold 
tenure. the amount does not and is 
not intended to represent the value of 
the Board’s capital assets. Items are 
categorised as work-in-progress until 
such time as the project is complete 
and can then be allocated across the 
other categories.

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided in the profit 
and loss account as follows:

(1)  A charge, which is deducted from 
fixed assets at cost, calculated by 
reference to the cost to the Board 
of the various types of assets and 
to their expected effective lives. 
the maximum lives are as follows:  

 

buildings (including mixed use assets) 
50 years, wharves, quays, etc 30 years, 
ships and floating craft 20 years, site 
preparation and dredging 15 years, 
navigational aids 10 years and plant 
and machinery between 3 and 40 
years, using the straight line method.

(2)  no depreciation is provided  
on the cost of land and  
work-in-progress.

stocks
Stocks, which comprise fuel, 
engineering spares and consumables,  
are stated at the lower of cost and  
net realisable value.

investments
these short-term investments are 
recognised at market value and any 
unrealised gains or losses on the 
revaluation of the investment are dealt 
with in reserves (unrealised).

liquiD resources
for the purposes of the cash flow 
statement, liquid resources are defined 
as current asset investments and short 
term deposits.

taxation
the charge for taxation is based on the 
profit for the year and takes into 
account taxation deferred because of 
timing differences between the 
treatment of certain items for taxation 
and accounting purposes.

Deferred taxation is recognised, 
without discounting, in respect  
of all timing differences between the 
treatment of certain items for taxation 
and accounting purposes which have 
arisen but not reversed by the balance 
sheet date, except as otherwise 
required by fRS 19.

pensions
the expected cost of pensions in 
respect of the Board’s defined benefits 
pension scheme is charged to the 
profit and loss account so as to spread 
the cost of pensions over the service 
life of employees in  
the scheme. the pension cost is 
assessed in accordance with the 
advice of the Scheme Actuary.  
Any pension scheme surplus (to the 
extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is 
split between operating charges, 
finance items and, in the statement of 
total recognised gains and losses, 
actuarial gains and losses. for defined 
contribution schemes, the amount 
charged to the profit and loss account 
in respect of pension costs and other 
post-retirement benefits is the 
contributions payable in respect  
of the financial year. Differences 
between contributions payable in the 
year and contributions actually paid 
are shown either as accruals or 
prepayments in the balance sheet.

STATEMENT OF ACCOuNTINg pOlICIES
Year ended 31 december 2014
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turnover 
turnover comprises the revenue value, 
exclusive of value added tax, of 
services provided to third parties in 
respect of shipping activity, port 
operations, and logistics together with 
income from property and sundry 
other revenue. 

Revenue in respect of shipping activity, 
port operations and logistics is 
recognised when the service has been 
provided. Revenue from property 
includes rental income from tenancy 
leases, service charge income and 
other amounts receivable from 
tenants. Rental income and lease 
incentives to tenants are recognised in 
the income statement on a straight 
line basis over the relevant lease term. 
property sales are recognised on the 
exchange of contracts. other revenue 
comprises other sundry amounts 
recognised on an accruals basis.

leases
Assets held under finance leases and 
other similar contracts, which confer 
rights and obligations similar to those 
attached to owned assets, are 
capitalised as tangible fixed assets and 
are depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease terms and their useful lives. the 
capital elements of future lease 
obligations are recorded as liabilities, 
while the interest elements are 
charged to the profit and loss account 
over the period of the leases to 
produce a constant rate of charge on 
the balance of capital repayments 
outstanding. Hire purchase 
transactions are dealt with similarly, 
except that assets are depreciated over 
their useful lives. 

Rentals under operating leases are 
charged on a straight line basis over 
the lease term, even if the payments 
are not made on such  

a basis. Benefits received and 
receivable as an incentive to sign an 
operating lease are similarly spread on 
a straight line basis over the lease 
term, except where the period to the 
review date on which the rent is first 
expected to be adjusted to the 
prevailing market rate is shorter than 
the full lease term, in which case the 
shorter period is used.

provisions
A provision is recognised where there 
is a present obligation, whether legal 
or constructive, as a result of a past 
event for which it is probable that a 
transfer of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a 
reasonable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation.

grants
Grants receivable in respect of 
tangible fixed assets are credited to 
the profit and loss account over the 
expected useful economic lives of the 
relevant assets to which they relate. 
Grants receivable in respect of revenue 
expenditure are credited to the profit 
and loss account in the period to 
which they relate. Grants received but 
not yet released to the profit and loss 
account are included as deferred 
income in the balance sheet.
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47NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 december 2014

2014 2013

£’000 £’000

1. Turnover

dues – Ships  20,672  21,150 

         – goods  21,409  19,295 

         – passengers  5,276  5,204 

         – Security  3,076  3,027 

 50,433  48,676 

Cranes  466  547 

warehouse & Storage  390  369 

pilotage – Services  560  650 

pilotage – Exemption Certificates  5  10 

Other port Services  2,278  2,665 

Estates & Other Income  6,505  6,224 

Total Turnover  60,637  59,141 

2. Cost of sales

Operating and maintenance  48,337  37,208 

dredging  541  574 

pilotage  895  1,102 

 49,773  38,884 
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

3. Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

profit is stated after charging the following:

Auditors' remuneration:

  – Audit of financial statements  47  43 

  – Other services relating to tax  1  3 

  – Other services –  6 

Non-domestic rates  2,779  2,709 

Hire of plant and machinery – operating leases  34  41 

(profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets   (356)  21 

Charge for historical cost depreciation:

  – Tangible fixed assets (see note 7)  9,980  8,231 

  – Impairments (see note 7)  –  773 

Eu grants   (1,359) –

4. Net finance costs

Interest receivable and similar income

Bank interest and other  398  694 

Interest payable and similar charges

Marine mortgage   (79)   (109)

Finance charges in respect of finance leases   (10)   (16)

Other loans   (6)   (9)

Net finance income  303  560 

Net pension finance income   

Expected return on pension fund assets  8,435  7,273 

Interest on pension fund liabilities   (7,223)   (6,492)

 1,212 781
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

5. Employees   

Staff costs (including remuneration to the Board members) were:   

wages & salaries  12,811  13,296 

Social security costs  1,219  1,217 

pension costs  2,226  2,202 

 16,256  16,715 

Number Number

The average weekly number of persons (including Board members) 
employed by the Board on a continuing basis during the year was:

Operational & maintenance staff  195  188 

Administrative & IT staff  112  115 

 307  303 

Basic salary 
& fees

Taxable 
benefits

2014 
Total

2013 
Total

Board members’ remuneration £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Tp waggott*  281  12  293  253 

Sd pottage* (appointed 20 May 2014)  134 –  134  – 

gR Jenkins  80 –  80  96 

J Hume   29 –   29  27 

CEw green  24 –  24  26 

RJ lane  26 –  26  15 

F Martin  26 –  26  15 

E Østergaard  26 –   26  15 

dr RH goldfield (retired 31 May 2013) – –  –  118 

RA Holmes# (retired 30 April 2013) – –  –  14 

VE Owen (retired 30 April 2013) – – –  9 

Total   626   12   638   588

*Executive member   
#Included within the figures is an amount as Chair of the Board’s pension Scheme

Pension Entitlement
The highest paid executive member, Mr. T.p. waggott, participates in the Board’s defined benefits pension scheme. 
The accrued pension to which he would be entitled from the normal retirement date was £18,620 at 31 december 
2014 (2013: £14,039). No pension contributions were made in respect of the non-executive Board members and no 
pension benefits accrue to them.
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

6. Taxation

(a) Analysis of charge in period

uk corporation tax:

Current tax on income  1,396  3,729 

Adjustment in respect of prior years   (56)  8 

Total current tax  1,340  3,737 

deferred tax

– Origination and reversal of timing differences   (1,142)  1,070 

– Adjustment in respect of prior year   (20)   (190)

– Charge for timing differences on pension costs  518  74 

– Effect of decreased tax rate on opening balances  –  166 

Total deferred tax   (644)  1,120 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 696 4,857

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the period

The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard  
rate of corporation tax in the uk of 21.5% (2013: 23.25%).  
The differences are explained below:  

profit on ordinary activities before tax  3,745  9,981 

profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate  
of corporation tax in the uk of 21.5% (2013: 23.25%)

 
805

 
2,321

Effects of:  

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  1,297  1,561 

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation   (146)   (85)

Adjustment in respect of pension costs   (560)   (68)

Adjustment in respect of prior years   (56)  8 

Current tax charge for the period  1,340  3,737 
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Freehold 

land & 
Buildings

 
Floating 

Craft

 
plant & 

Equipment

Capital 
work in 
progress

 
 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

7. Fixed Assets – tangible assets

Cost

At 1 January 2014  230,311  12,222  75,000  14,605  332,138 

Additions  771 –   2,532  10,862  14,165 

Transfers  1,678 –  1,371   (3,049)  –

disposals   (4,153) –   (336) –   (4,489)

At 31 December 2014  228,607 12,222  78,567  22,418   341,814 

Depreciation

At 1 January 2014  144,242  7,546  39,303   –  191,091 

provision for the period  5,491  528  3,961   –  9,980 

disposals   (4,018)  –   (276)  –   (4,294)

At 31 December 2014  145,715  8,074  42,988 –   196,777  

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2014  82,892  4,148  35,579  22,418  145,037 

At 31 december 2013  86,069  4,676  35,697  14,605  141,047 

Included in the total net book value of floating craft is £3,457,709 (2013: £3,795,040) and within plant and 
equipment is £606,530 (2013: £770,954) in respect of assets held on marine mortgage or under finance leases. 
depreciation for the year on these assets was £337,331 (2013: £337,331) and £164,424 (2013: £164,424) respectively.

8. Fixed asset investments

The Board owns 100% of the issued share capital of the following companies,  
all of which are incorporated in England and wales.

  

Company  Business 

port of dover limited dormant

dover waterfront limited dormant

port of dover Consultancy Services limited  dormant
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

9. Debtors

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors  6,220  7,007 

Other debtors  5,195  1,215 

prepayments and accrued income  1,256  1,033 

  12,671   9,255 

Amounts falling due after one year:

Other debtors  4,103 – 

 16,774   9,255

Included within other debtors is an amount of £7.9m (€10.1m) that relates to an Eu grant awarded to the Board 
in respect of the BRIdgE project. £3.8m (€5.1m) was received after the year end.

10. Investments
dover Harbour Board invests in a AAA rated Cash plus Fund. The fund holds investments in the form of  
cash, covered bonds, conventional gilts, supranational bonds and certificates of deposit. The book cost and  
market value of these investments at 31 december 2014 were £41,246,831 and £41,415,110 respectively  
(2013: £35,943,267 and £35,991,267). The stock exchange value of these investments is the same as the market value.

2014 2013

£’000 £’000

11. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Marine mortgage (secured – see note 12)  934  901 

Obligations under finance leases  113  187 

Trade creditors  7,777  5,892 

Taxation & social security payable  905  1,814 

Accruals and deferred income  4,178  2,172 

Other  357  518 

 14,264   11,484 
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

12. Creditors: Amounts falling due after one year

Marine mortgage (secured)  721  1,655 

Obligations under finance leases  51  164 

deferred income  5,386  – 

 6,158  1,819 

The marine mortgage is secured by a charge over specific floating craft subject to the mortgage.

The maturity of obligations in respect of the marine mortgage or under 
finance leases, net of future finance charges, is as follows:

within one year  1,047  1,088 

In the second to fifth years  772  1,819 

  1,819    2,907  

Included within deferred income are amounts relating to the Eu grant referred to in note 9. The amount to 
be released to the p&l account in 2015 is expected to be £1.2m (2014: £1.4m)  and the remainder of £5.4m is 
expected to be released over the next 25 years.

pilots’ National 
pension Fund

deferred 
Tax

 
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

13. Provision for liabilities

At 1 January 2014  288  2,008  2,296 

Credit to profit & loss account   (13)   (1,162)   (1,175)

275 846  1,121

2014 2013

£’000 £’000

deferred tax is provided for as follows:

Accelerated capital allowances  914  2,078 

Other short term timing differences   (68)   (70)

 846   2,008 

The shortfall in funding on the pilots’ National pension Fund (pNpF) has been communicated to all participating Bodies 
and the amount identified as being attributable to dover Harbour Board has been provided in full. The payment of 
deficit contributions against this shortfall is to be spread over 16 years and commenced in 2013.
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£’000

14. Combined reconciliation of movement in members’ funds and statement  
of movements on reserves 

As at 31 december 2013  181,686 

profit for the period  3,049 

Increase in value of investments  120 

Net actuarial loss on pension scheme   (7,346)

As at 31 december 2014  177,509

2014 2013

£’000 £’000

15. Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

Operating profit  1,874  8,661 

depreciation charges (see note 7)  9,980  10,568 

Additional pension contributions   (1,964)   (186)

difference between pension charge and cash contributions  585  596 

Stock decrease  13  46 

debtors increase   (7,519)   (627)

Creditors increase  9,274  207 

provision (decrease)/increase   (13)  77 

Non-cash movement* –  547 

  12,230  19,889 

*Recategorisation of capital works commenced in prior years as maintenance expenditure in the current year.
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

16. Analysis of cash flows

Returns on investment and servicing of finance   

Interest received 398 694 

Interest paid (85) (118)

Interest element of finance lease rental payment (10) (16)

303 560

Capital expenditure and financial investment

purchase of tangible fixed assets (14,165) (17,243)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 551 287 

(13,614) (16,956)

Financing

Repayment of loan to third parties   (164) (59)

Repayment of marine mortgage   (901) (870)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments   (187) (180)

  (1,252)   (1,109)

Start of 
period

 
Cashflow

Non-cash 
changes

End of 
period

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

17. Analysis of net funds

Cash at bank and short term deposits  22,129   (9,879) –   12,250  

debt due within one year   (901)  901   (934)   (934)

debt due after one year   (1,655) –  934   (721)

Finance leases   (351)  187 –   (164)

 19,222   (8,791) –  10,431 

Other liquid resources  35,991  5,304  120   41,415 

  55,213   (3,487)  120  51,846 
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2014 2013

£’000 £’000

18. Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure which has been contracted for but which has not 
been provided for in the accounts

 10,392  21,574

Capital expenditure which has been authorised by the Board but has not 
been contracted for

 19,768  11,338

In addition to the above the Board has agreed to spend up to £6 million in respect of works to improve road 
junctions and provide waterfront flood protection within 3 years from the approval of the Harbour Revision 
Order for Terminal 2.

(b) Annual Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

Operating leases which expire:

within one year 6 –

In the second to fifth years inclusive 26  33

32 33
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5719. Derivatives and other financial instruments
derivative financial instruments have not been used during the period in creating or changing the risks the 
Board faces in its activities.

As permitted by FRS 13, short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the following disclosures.

Interest Rate Profile
The Board has no financial assets other than sterling cash deposits of £12,249,695  (2013: £22,128,775) and 
investments of £41,415,110 (2013: £35,991,267) which are part of the liquid financing arrangements of the Board. 
The sterling cash deposits are funds placed on the money market with maturities up to 12 months.

The interest rate profile of the Board’s financial liabilities at 31 december 2014 was as follows:

       

Fixed 
Rate

Floating 
Rate

2014 
Total

Fixed 
Rate

Floating 
Rate

2013 
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Marine mortgage  1,656 –  1,656 2,557 – 2,557

Finance lease  163 –  163   350 –   350

Maturity of Financial Liabilities
The maturity profile of the Board’s financial liabilities at 31 december 2014 and 31 december 2013  
is given in Note 12.

Borrowing facilities
There were no committed borrowing facilities at the year end other than the marine mortgage.  

Fair values
The Board members do not consider that the fair values of its financial instruments are materially different  
from book values.

Currency exposures
The Board’s operations are handled almost entirely in sterling.
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20. Pensions
dover Harbour Board operates a defined benefit scheme and defined contribution scheme in the uk.  
during the year the defined benefit scheme was closed to new entrants.

Defined benefit scheme 2014 2013

£’000 £’000

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  166,323  160,338 

Current service cost  2,024  2,188 

Interest cost  7,223  6,492 

plan participants’ contributions  724  628 

past service costs  –  13 

Actuarial loss  26,204  3,112 

Benefits paid   (6,888)   (6,448)

Benefit obligation at end of year  195,610  166,323 

Analysis of defined benefit obligation

plans that are wholly or partly funded  195,610 166,323 

Total  195,610  166,323 

Change in plan assets   

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  151,401  149,175 

Expected return on plan assets  8,435  7,273 

Actuarial losses/(gains)  17,021   (1,018)

Employer contribution  3,403  1,791 

Member contributions  724  628 

Benefits paid   (6,888)   (6,448)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  174,096  151,401

Funded status   (21,514)   (14,922)

Net amount recognised – before deferred tax   (21,514)   (14,922)

Components of pension cost                  

Current service cost  2,024  2,188 

Interest cost  7,223  6,492 

Expected return on plan assets   (8,435)   (7,273)

past service cost –  13 

Total pension cost recognised in the P&L account   812   1,420 

Actuarial loss immediately recognised  9,183  4,130 

Total pension cost recognised in the STRGL  9,183  4,130 

Cumulative amount of actuarial losses immediately recognised  42,390  33,207

Actual return on plan assets  25,586  6,255
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Plan assets
The weighted-average asset allocation at the year-end were as follows:

plan assets 
at 31-dec-14

plan assets 
at 31-dec-13

plan assets 
at 31-dec-12

plan assets 
at 31-dec-11

Equities 28% 23% 22% 21%

Structured Equity 11% 13% 12% 12%

Bonds 39% 35% 36% 36%

property 2% 1% 1% 1%

dynamic Asset Allocation 0% 19% 17% 17%

SwApS 16% 8% 10% 10%

Other 4% 1% 2% 3%

100% 100% 100% 100%

Based on the asset allocation above, the aggregate expected return on scheme assets for 2015 is 4%. 

weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at:

31-dec-14 31-dec-13 31-dec-12 31-dec-11

discount rate 3.40% 4.40% 4.10% 4.60%

Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 3.30% 3.90% 4.10%

Rate of increase of pensions 
currently accruing

 
2.40%

 
2.50%

 
2.40%

 
2.40%

Rate of increase of pensions in 
deferment

 
2.00%

 
2.30%

 
2.10%

 
2.00%

Inflation 3.00% 3.30% 2.90% 3.10%

weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension cost for year ended:

31-dec-14 31-dec-13 31-dec-12

discount rate 4.40% 4.10% 4.60%

Expected long-term return on plan assets 5.60% 4.90% 4.90%

Rate of compensation increase 3.30% 3.90% 4.10%

Rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.50% 2.40% 2.70%

Inflation 3.30% 2.90% 3.10%

weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables used to determine benefit obligations at:

Male Female Male Female

Member age 65 (current life expectancy) 21.4 24.0 21.4 23.9

Member age 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 22.7 25.6 22.8 25.5

31-dec-14 31-dec-13
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Five Year History

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Benefit obligation at end of year  195,610  166,323  160,338  146,527  133,583 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  174,096  151,401  149,175  139,484  124,921 

Deficit   (21,514)   (14,922)   (11,163)   (7,043)   (8,662)

Related deferred tax asset  4,303  2,984  2,567  1,761  2,339 

Net pension liability    (17,211)   (11,938)   (8,596)   (5,282)   (6,323)

Difference between actual and expected return on scheme assets:

Amount (£’000)  17,021   (1,018)  1,963  7,690  11,804 

percentage of scheme assets 10% -1% 1% 6% 9%

Experience (loss) and gains on scheme liabilities:

Amount (£’000) (1,504)   (1,306)  826  (540) 961 

percentage of scheme assets -1% -1% 1% 0% 1%

Contributions
The Board expects to pay a lump sum deficit contribution of £2,150,000 to its pension scheme in 2015 together 
with contributions of 15.5% of pensionable salaries.

In addition the Board contributes to a defined contribution scheme for which the pension costs for the year 
were £18,412 (2013:nil).

21. Contingent Liability
There is a potential claim from a supplier in respect of an ongoing construction contract. At this stage the claim 
has not been formally received and is unable to be quantified. The Board is of the opinion that any claim will be 
robustly defended.

22. Related Party Transactions
during the year Mr J Hume (non-executive Board member) was a director and then Chairman of Hyder 
Consulting plc. These positions ceased on 24 October 2014. Hyder Consulting plc were paid £417,070 during the 
year. These transactions were all conducted in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s-length basis.
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61SuMMARY OF FIVE YEAR FINANCIAl RESulTS
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover  60,637 59,141  55,357  54,740  57,165 

Cost of Sales                       (49,773)   (38,884)   (38,238)   (35,765)   (36,527)

GROSS PROFIT   10,864 20,257  17,119  18,975  20,638 

Administration expenses   (10,349)    (11,596)   (9,367)   (9,107)   (8,726)

Other operating income  1,359 – – – –

OPERATING PROFIT  1,874 8,661   7,752   9,868  11,912

profit on sale of discontinued operations – – 500 – –

profit/(loss) on sale of assets  356 (21)   (544)   (200) 38

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
BEFORE INTEREST 

 
 2,230 

  
8,640 

  
7,708 

 
 9,668 

  
11,950 

Net finance income  303 560  942  754  587 

Net pension finance income/(costs)  1,212  781  230  529   (196)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  
BEFORE TAXATION

  
3,745 

 
9,981

  
8,880 

  
10,951

  
12,341

Tax on profit on ordinary activities   (696)   (4,857)   (3,194)   (3,363)   (4,539)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  
BEFORE TAXATION

  
3,049 

  
5,124

  
5,686 

  
7,588 

  
7,802 

This page does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SuMMARY OF TEN YEAR TRAFFIC STATISTICS

 
 

passengers

 
 

Coaches

Other  
tourist  

vehicles

Commercial  
road haulage 

vehicles

Vessels  
entering  
the port

2014  13,481,599  96,576  2,456,817  2,421,537  18,669 

2013  13,004,077  90,478  2,471,193  2,206,728  19,441 

2012  12,129,491  84,246  2,400,471  1,952,138  17,202 

2011  12,988,524  84,938  2,653,127  2,069,945  17,772 

2010  13,461,861  86,035  2,818,380  2,091,516  20,198 

2009  13,349,531  81,209  2,775,174  2,300,468  21,649 

2008  14,166,935  97,851  2,830,238  2,307,821  22,118 

2007  14,497,712  105,338  2,837,559  2,363,583  23,148 

2006  14,011,722  105,774  2,647,060  2,324,598  23,207 

2005  13,508,055  107,541  2,554,772  2,045,867  23,774 
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BoARD AnD 
MAnAGeMent teAM
(as at 24 March 2015)

george Jenkins oBe, CHAIRMAn
Chairman of the Cystic fibrosis trust. previously he has chaired a number of nHS organisations, held  
a number of executive and non-executive positions in the ports industry and was Chairman of the 
Medway Dock labour Board and executive Chairman and Managing Director of the transit Group.
Appointed by Secretary of State for transport. Date of appointment 1 october 2005. Current term  
of appointment terminates 31 December 2015 at the earliest. Appointed Deputy Chairman 28 January 
2010, Chairman 1 January 2013 and chairs the nomination Committee.

timothy Waggott, CHIef exeCutIve & ReGISteR
tim Waggott (fCCA) joined the organisation in April 2007 as Director of finance and Commercial 
having previously held an executive Board position with the port of Shoreham (one of the other major 
uK trust ports) as finance Director and Deputy Chief executive. He is a Council Member of industry 
body the British ports Association and served for five years until 2011 as Honorary treasurer. He 
previously sat on the port Advisory Group of uK trade and Investment and has been involved in a 
number of trade missions overseas, promoting the skills and expertise of British business in emerging 
markets, and speaking on port financing and master planning issues at international conferences.  
He has also supported a number of local educational establishments as a Governor, Committee Chair, 
and independent examiner of school fund and ptA finances, and is a Kent Ambassador.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board. Date of appointment 22 May 2012 and appointed Chief 
executive in May 2013.

JeFFrey hume, DeputY CHAIRMAn
Jeff is the Senior Independent Director of Manx telecom plc and a non-executive Director of the 
housing association Moat Homes ltd. He is also a member of the london Stock exchange’s primary 
Markets Group. He has previously been the Chairman of Hyder Consulting plc and a non-executive 
Director of the insurance broker Heath lambert. He has been the finance Director of tDG plc,  
AWG plc, Alfred McAlpine plc and Howden Group plc, following a number of senior finance and 
management positions within Hawker Siddeley Group plc. He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and of the Association of Corporate treasurers.
Appointed by the Secretary of State for transport. Date of Appointment 24 May 2010. Current term 
of appointment terminates 23 May 2016. Chairs the Audit Committee. Appointed Deputy Chairman 
and Senior Independent Director on 3 December 2013.

Frank martin Dl, BoARD MeMBeR
frank was Deputy Chairman and former Chief executive at Hornby plc and is a Deputy lieutenant  
of Kent, based in east Kent. He is a Governor of Canterbury Christchurch university, Commodore of 
the Royal temple Yacht Club, vice Chairman of Royal British legion Industries and a member of the 
thanet Regeneration Board. 
Chairs the Remuneration Committee. Appointed by the Secretary of State for transport on  
13 June 2013. Current term of appointment expires on 12 June 2018.
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BoB lane oBe, BoARD MeMBeR
Appointed to the Board following a career in regeneration activities across the uK. He is currently  
a Board member of the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and until recently was Chairman of  
the london thames Gateway Development Corporation. He is also a board member of the Mayoral 
Development Corporation liverpool and is a trustee of the Brooke Weston partnership.
Appointed by the Secretary of State for transport on 13 June 2013. Current term of appointment 
expires on 30 September 2016.

erik ØstergaarD r, BoARD MeMBeR
erik is currently Chief executive officer of Danish transport & logistics, an industry leader for the 
transport and logistics sector in Denmark. He is also Chairman of Caledonian Maritime Assets limited. 
He brings a wealth of shipping, transportation and infrastructure experience, having been Chief 
operating officer for Scandlines AG Group (one of europe’s leading ferry companies).  
Appointed by the Secretary of State for transport on 13 June 2013. Current term of appointment 
expires on 12 June 2018.

shaun pottage, DIReCtoR of fInAnCe
Shaun is a Chartered Accountant and joined the organisation as Director of finance in november 
2013, having previously been Group finance Director at Hotchkiss Group and before that a Divisional 
finance Director of the technology-led plastics business, Carclo. 
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board, date of appointment 20 May 2014.

chris green, RetIReD AS A BoARD MeMBeR on 30 noveMBeR 2014.

sharon higenBottam, CoMpAnY SeCRetARY
As Secretary to the Board, Sharon attends all Board meetings.  She joined the organisation in 1990 
and previously was Assistant Company Secretary to a listed security company. She is a fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

paul BroWn
GeneRAl MAnAGeR 
– opeRAtIonS  
AnD HARBouR 
MASteR

Jack gooDheW
GeneRAl MAnAGeR 
– teCHnICAl  
AnD enGIneeRInG 
SeRvICeS

anita Wilson
GeneRAl MAnAGeR 
– CoRpoRAte  
ADMInIStRAtIon

tim goDDen
GeneRAl MAnAGeR 
– StRAteGY AnD 
RISK MAnAGeMent

BarBara Buczek
GeneRAl MAnAGeR 
– BuSIneSS  
DevelopMent

ExECuTIVE MANAgEMENT gROup
the Board receives regular updates from members of the executive Management Group:
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